
From Trusty James

Sent Monday April 12 2010 819 AM
To Weinstein Jason Carwile Kevin

Subject RE My airplane reading Part II

Makes sense just let us know Frenchie

Original Message

From Weinstein Jason

Sent Monday April 12 2010 530 AM

To Carwile Kevin Trusty James

Subject My airplane reading Part Il

Been thinking more about Wide Receiver ATF HO should/will be embarrassed that they let this many guns walk Im

stunned based on what weve had to do to make sure not even single operable weapon walked in UC operations Ive

been involved in planning and there will be press about that In addition this diary that casts aspersions on one of the

agents is challenge for the case but also something that is likely to embarrass ATF publicly For those reasons think

we need to make sure we go over these issues with our front office and with Billy Hoover before we charge the case Of

course we should still go forward but we owe it to ATF HQ to preview these issues before anything gets filed

Im not suggesting we need to send the memo further up the chain it would take you or me really long time to

convert what Laura wrote into something we could send to Lanny but we should schedule time to brief Lanny and

Mythili on the case next week end of the week bc he testifies on Wed and is jammed up before then and then to brief

Billy after that

Jason Weinstein

Deputy Assistant Attorney General

Criminal Division

U.S Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW
Washington D.C 20530

Office

Cell
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Carwile, Kevin 
Monday, April19, 2010 6:42PM 
Trusty, James 
Re: How did the 

No problem. See you around noon. 

-- --- Original Message 
From: Trusty, James 
To: Carwile, Kevin 
Sent: Mon Apr 19 18:40:08 2010 
Subject: Re: How did the 

Went fine . You know how he is. Wants us to meet with Ken and Billy at some point so they know 
the bad stuff that could come out. I'm going to come in late tomorrow - probably near noon -­
work from home in the am and then work til around 6. 

----- Original Message 
From: Carwile, Kevin 
To: Trusty, James 
Sent: Mon Apr 19 18:23:42 2010 
Subject: How did the 

Meeting go with lanny? 

1 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Carwile, Kevin 
Monday. April 19, 2010 6:42 PM 
Trusty, James 
Re: How did the 

No problem. See you around noon. 

----- Original Message 
From: Trusty, James 
To: Carwile, Kevin 
Sent: Mon Apr 19 18:40:08 2010 
Subject: Re: How did the 

Went fine . You know how he is. Wants us to meet with Ken and Billy at some point so they know 
the bad stuff that could come out. I'm going to come in late tomorrow - probably near noon -­
work from home in the am and then work til around 6 . 

--- - - Original Message 
From: Carwile, Kevin 
To: Trusty. James 
Sent: Mon Apr 19 18:23:42 2010 
Subject: How did the 

Meeting go with lanny? 
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From: Weinstein, Jason 

Sent: 
To: 

Tuesday, April 20, 2010 9:11 AM 
Beard, Jane 

Subject: Re: 3 things to schedule 

Particu lar case - Operation Wide Rece iver - I gave Hoover a heads-up 

Jason M. We instein 
Deputy Assistant Attorney Genera l 
Criminal Division 
U.S. Departm ent of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 

-.. -. Origina l Message -_._. 

From: Beard, Jane 
To: Weinstein, Jason 
Sent: Tue Apr 20 08:26:35 2010 
Subject: RE: 3 things to schedule 

For number 3 below, I will need to call ATF re Ke n Melson's availability. Is the .subject a particular gun tra.tficking case or 

gun trafficking cases in general? Thank you. . 

-··-Original Message·---· 
From: Weinstein, Jason 
Sent: Tuesday, April 20, 2010 7:30 AM 
To: Beard, Jane 
Cc: Breuer, lanny A.; Fagell, Steven; Raman, MVthili 
Subject: 3 things to schedule 

3. Monday, April 26 or Tuesday, April 27 - briefing for ATF on gun trafficking case -lanny, me, Mythili, Steve, Kevin 
Carwile, Jim Trusty, Ken Melson, Billy Hoover, laura Sweeney - 4S minutes to an hour. 

Thanks! 

Jason M . Weinstein 

1 
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Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Criminal Division 
US. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Was;h!.'1~ D.C. 20530 

2 
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From: Weinstein, Jason 
Sent: 
To: 

Friday, April 30, 2010 7:03 PM 
Breuer, Lanny A. 

Subject: Re: Operation Wide Receiver 

As you'll recall from Jim's brieffng, ATF let a bunch of guns walk in effort to get upstream conspirators but only got 
straws, and didn't recover many guns. Some were recovered in MX after being used in crimes. Billy, Jim, Laura, Alisa 
and I all think the best way to announce the case without highlighting the negative part of the story and ri sking 
embarrassing ATF is as part of Deliverance. 

Jason M. Weinstein 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Criminal Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 

---- Original Message --­
From: Br~uer, lanny A. 
To: Weinstein. Jason 
Sent: Fri Apr 30 18:39:45 2010 
Subject: Re: Operation Wide Receiver 

Anything I should know about thos? 

----- Original Message --­
From: Weinstein, Jason 
To: Breuer, l anny A.; Raman, Mythil1; fagelt, Steven 
Sent: Wed Apr 28 IB:59:27 2010 
Subject: Operation Wide Receiver 

Jim T and I met with Billy Hoover and with laura and Alisa to talk about this gun t rafficking case with the issues about 
the guns being allowed to walk tor Investigative purposes. Can fill you ill lUllIUllUW in more detail but we nil think the 
best move is to indict both Wide Receiver t and Wide Receiver II under sea l and then unsea l as part of Proj!:!d 
Deliverance, where focus will be on aggregate seizures and not on particulars of anyone indictment. 

Jason M. Weinstein 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
CrimInal Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 

1 
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From: Weinstein, Ja~'jn 
Sent: Sund~'(, Qctvber 17 2010 1I:07PI~ 
To: Ilu,>ly, Jdmes 
Subject : FW: OCGS \v~~~ly Peport 
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From: 
To: 
CC: 
Sent: 
Subject: 

Weinstein, Jason 
Breuer, Lanny A. 
Raman, Mythili 
1/31/2011 9:43:28 PM 
Re: ATF GunRunner 

He suggests that ATF only prosecuted straws in the Fast and Furious case as opposed to higher-level members of the 
organization; he said that ATF "sanctioned" sales to straw purchasers in that case; and he asserts that one of the weapons from 
that case was used to kill CBP agent Brian Terry. 

The best briefer on Fast and Furious really is the AUSA on the case, who is very sharp. Otherwise it should be someone like Bill 
Newell, the Phx SAC and soon-to-be Mexico Attache, who is fantastic and knows the case really well, or Billy Hoover. 

As a mitzvah for ATF, I was going to suggest that you might send a brief email to Ken, offering any assistance they need in 
preparing for the Grassley briefing. 

Jason M. Weinstein 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Criminal Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20530 
Office: {------Rc~·f------' 

Ce II: !_-_-'"-"-"-"-"R:c-::r-"-"-"-"-"-"-1' 

From: Breuer, Lanny A. 
To: Weinstein, Jason 
Cc: Raman, Mythili 
Sent: Mon Jan 31 21:29:092011 
Subject: Re: ATF GunRunner 

What's this about? What did Grassley say? 

From: Weinstein, Jason _______________________________________ _ 
To: Burke, Dennis (USAAZ); 'APingsl RC-1 : 'Deborah.A.Johnston@:-------RC-~-1--------i 

L J L __ 
:---------------------Rc~T---------- ----------TBreuer~TannyA.--

C:c:-Rama-n,-M'(tnm- , 
Sent: Mon Jan 31 21:14:162011 
Subject: Re: ATF GunRunner 

I agree completely. This is a really important briefing for ATF - they need to nail it. Since I won't be in Mexico this week after all, 
I'd be happy to work with ATF on the prep for this if it would be helpful. 

Jason M. Weinstein 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Criminal Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20530 
Office: C-~-~~-~-~f"{(j~~·C~-~-~-~-~-J 

Cell: C------R-C:r-------' 

HOGR DOJ 003929 
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From: Burke, Dennis (USAAZ) ~------------Rc-~f-----------; 

To: Pings, Anne (USAEO) L-~-~-~-~-~~~~~~~~-T~~~~~~~~~JWe-inste-ii1', Jason; Johnston, Deborah A. (ODAG) (SMO) 
:----------------------Rc~f-----------------------

'-Sent:-I"fon]an-3f2LF19:5T2DTr-
Subject: FW: ATF GunRunner 

assertions r",n""rrllinn the Arizona and the weapons recovered at the BP 
scene are based on falsehoods. I worry that ATF will take 8 months to answer this when 

its accusations now. 

HOGR DOJ 003930 



From: 
To: 
CC: 
Sent: 
Subject: 

My thoughts exactly 

Jason M. Weinstein 

Weinstein, Jason 
Breuer, Lanny A. 
Raman, Mythili 
2/2/2011 9:40:31 AM 
Re: Grassley briefing 

Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Criminal Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20530 
Offid-----R-·-·-C·-·-·-·-·1------- 1 
Cell·! - : 

·1 _______________________________________ J 

From: Breuer, Lanny A. 
To: Weinstein, Jason 
Cc: Raman, Mythili 
Sent: Wed Feb 02 00:34:13 2011 
Subject: Re: Grassley briefing 

Sure but you probably shouldn't unless absolutely necessary. 

From: Weinstein, Jason 
To: Breuer, Lanny A. 
Cc: Raman, Mythili 
Sent: Tue Feb 0120:51:442011 
Subject: Re: Grassley briefing 

Faith drafted a letter, which I revised to make a little tougher - she's reviewing the edits - and then she will circulate to Dennis 
and Billy Hoover. 

ATF will do a briefing on Gunrunner, without getting too much into the details of the actual case. I don't think they'll ask us to 
participate, but if they do, are you ok with my going? 

Jason M. Weinstein 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Criminal Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20530 
Offid--------------------; 

Cell:: RC-1 
i __ _ 

From: Breuer, Lanny A. 
To: Weinstein, Jason; Burke, Dennis (USAAZ) 
Sent: Tue Feb 0119:12:21 2011 
Subject: Re: Grassley briefing 

Jason, Let me know what's happening with this. Thanks for getting involved. Lan 

HOGR DOJ 004057 
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From: Weinstein, Jason 
To: Breuer, Lanny A.; Burke, Dennis (USAAZ) 
Sent: Tue Feb 0113:53:51 2011 
Subject: RE: Grassley briefing 

with Faith Burton now. 

From: Breuer, Lanny A. 
Sent: Tuesday, February 01,20111:53 PM 
To: Weinstein, Jason; Burke, Dennis (USAAZ) 
Subject: Fw: Grassley briefing 

r------------------------------------------------------------"1 

From: Melson, Kenneth E.! 
To: Breuer, Lanny A. ;-

RC-1 

Sent: Tue Feb 0111:30:56 2011 
Subject: Re: Grassley briefing 

Thanks. Lanny. Let's see how things deyelop. Ken 

******* 
NOTICE: This e-mail message and any attached files are intended solely for the use ofthe addressee(s) named abO\e incol1llection with 
official business. This communication may contain Controlled Unclassified Information that may be statutorily or otherwise prohibited from 
being released without appropriate apprO\al. Any reyiew. use. or dissemination of tins e-mail message and any attached file( s) in any form 
outside of ATF or the Deparunent of Justice witilOut e:\.-press authorization is strictly prolnbited. 

----- Original Message -.~_~~: _______________________ . 
From: Breuer. Lanny A! RC-1 
To: Melson. KennetilE. ,-
Sent: Tue Feb 0109:22:2-1- 20ll 
Subject: Grassley briefing 

On Gunll.umer. Ken. We support ATF 100 percent. I'm happy to hme CRM lend a helping hand -- in any capacity -- as your team prepares for 
tile briefing. Please let me know if you need anytlnng. Best. LalU]) 

HOGR DOJ 004058 



From: 
To: 
CC: 
Sent: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

Weinstein, Jason 
Breuer, Lanny A.; Raman, Mythili 
Wroblewski, Jonathan 
2/2/2011 1 :34:29 PM 
FW: further revisions 
grassley atf.2-1-11.weinstein edits.clean.docx 

back and forth on a letter to Gn3ssley which would go out I am to 
now first round of but this next round is more aggressive. 

to have a conference call with Dennis or his ATF OlA, ODAG, and me to 

ATF has QvrWQ':::c:",rl aIPpr·eciati(JI for the vUfJ'iJV' 

From: Weinstein, Jason 
Sent: Wednesday, February 02,20111:25 PM 
To: Weinstein, Jason; Burton, Faith (SMO) 
Cc: Burke, Dennis (USAAZ) 
Subject: RE: further revisions 

Fixed in second n<:>,·<:>nr<:>n,h 

From: Weinstein, Jason 
Sent: Wednesday, February 02,20111:23 PM 
To: Burton, Faith (SMO) 
Cc: Burke, Dennis (USAAZ) 
Subject: further revisions 

is nr,..,,,,,rt,nn on this. 

As we discussed, the "don't make assumptions" part doesn't really address the Terry allegation in a satisfying way, but 
I understand that we don't want to get drawn into a process where we're being pushed to give a lot of details about a 
pending case, so I opted for the more direct approach, without a lot of explanation. I included tracked and clean 
versions - clean may be easier to follow. 

I'm cc'ing Dennis to make sure he is comfortable with this. 

As we discussed, we should have a conference call with the larger group from your earlier email in the interests of 
getting something released today. I'm available all afternoon. 

Jason M. Weinstein 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Criminal Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20530 

g~~:f---t~-C-:1-----' 

HOGR DOJ 004209 
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From: 
To: 
CC: 
Sent: 
Subject: 

Breuer, Lanny A. 
Weinstein, Jason; Burke, Dennis (USAAZ) 
Raman, Mythili 
2/2/2011 6:29:20 PM 
Re: Revised Grassley letter 

Burke made me laugh. Thanks, Jason. As usual, great work. 

From: Weinstein, Jason 
To: Burke, Dennis (USAAZ); Breuer, Lanny A. 
Cc: Raman, Mythili 
Sent: Wed Feb 02 18:11:57 2011 
Subject: RE: Revised Grassley letter 

From: Burke, Dennis (USAAZ) :__ RC-1 
Sent: Wednesday, February 02,2011 5:55 PM 
To: Weinstein, Jason; Breuer, Lanny A. 
Cc: Raman, Mythili 
Subject: Re: Revised Grassley letter 

by Never when the crisis involves ATF and OlA. 

From: Weinstein, Jason (CRM) 
Sent: Wednesday, February 02,2011 05:20 PM 
To: Breuer, Lanny A. (CRM); Burke, Dennis (USAAZ) 
Cc: Raman, Mythili (CRM) 
Subject: FW: Revised Grassley letter 

suffer in a combined political coma. 

The was easier to done than this was. Have a cerveza or two for me .... 

From: Weinstein, Jason 
Sent: Wednesday, February 02,2011 5:17 PM 
To: Burton, Faith (SMO); Hoover, William J. (ATF); Burke, Dennis (USAAZ); Rasnake, Gregory R. (ATF); Pings, Anne (USAEO); 
McDermond, James E. (ATF); Melson, Kenneth E. (ATF); Johnson, Deborah (SMO); Smith, Brad (ODAG); Colborn, Paul P 
(SMO) 
Cc: Gaston, Molly (SMO); Gonzales, Mary (OLA) 
Subject: Revised Grassley letter 

Attached is a revised draft of a letter to Please take a look and let us know if this version is OK with 

Faith is tied in a but she asks that ATF reach out to r'::r,,,c:c:IQ\I' 

a response (we expect tomorrow, but shouldn't say that C""\'~I"',t'I"''''II\I and that you look forward to hri,,,fir,,.., 

on 

Thanks. 

HOGR DOJ 004422 
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From: 
To: 
Sent: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

From: Weinstein, Jason 

Breuer, Lanny A. 
f~~·~~~e~·~·~·.p~r~~~,erT1~i,~~~~ess!~~~~t~~~·J 
2/2/2011 8:50:02 PM 
Fw: Revised Grassley letter 
grassley atf clean 5pm.docx 

To: Breuer, Lanny A.; Burke, Dennis (USAAZ) 
Cc: Raman, Mythili 
Sent: Wed Feb 02 17:20:29 2011 
Subject: FW: Revised Grassley letter 

The was easier to done than this was. Have a cerveza or two for me .... 

From: Weinstein, Jason 
Sent: Wednesday, February 02,2011 5:17 PM 
To: Burton, Faith (SMO); Hoover, William J. (ATF); Burke, Dennis (USAAZ); Rasnake, Gregory R. (ATF); Pings, Anne (USAEO); 
McDermond, James E. (ATF); Melson, Kenneth E. (ATF); Johnson, Deborah (SMO); Smith, Brad (ODAG); Colborn, Paul P 
(SMO) 
Cc: Gaston, Molly (SMO); Gonzales, Mary (OLA) 
Subject: Revised Grassley letter 

Attached is a revised draft of a letter to Please take a look and let us know if this version is OK with 

in a but she asks that ATF reach out to r.:.r·:>cclo\l'c 

a rocnf"'l'''lCO chr.dh, (we expect tomorrow, but shouldn't that cn'~rifir""lh, and that look forward to hri'::.firl/"l 

Thanks. 

HOGR DOJ 004449 
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From: ,SI~Jd~L~9.lJlJy_6" _____________________ , 
To: l_L. Breuer personal email address redacted 

Sent: 2/5/2011 1 :50:37 PM 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

Fw: Revised draft letter to Grassley per input received from all - hope this is ready. Thanks. FB 
grassley atf 2411.pdf 

From: Weinstein, Jason 
To: Raman, Mythili; Breuer, Lanny A. 
Sent: Fri Feb 0417:55:102011 
Subject: FW: Revised draft letter to Grassley per input received from all - hope this is ready. Thanks. FB 

From: Burton, Faith (SMO) [mailto:! RC-1 
Sent: Friday, February 04, 2011 5:3~fpM-
To: Smith, Brad (ODAG); Burke, Dennis (USAAZ); Weich, Ron (SMO); Hoover, William J. (ATF); Weinstein, Jason; Colborn, 
Paul P (SMO) 
Cc: Gaston, Molly (SMO); Gonzales, Mary (OLA); Monaco, Lisa (ODAG); Goldberg, Stuart (ODAG); Rasnake, Gregory R. (ATF); 
Kralovec, Jamie (JMD) 
Subject: RE: Revised draft letter to Grassley per input received from all - hope this is ready. Thanks. FB 

Enclosed find this by in format. we be able to have hard copy delivered 
tf"'lnllnht irh""rk'inn now), but want to call the staffers to let them know it's and send it in Please call 
if we can assist in other way. Thanks. FB 

From: Smith, Brad (ODAG) 
Sent: Friday, February 04, 2011 3:45 PM 
To: Burke, Dennis (USAAZ); Burton, Faith (SMO); Weich, Ron (SMO); Hoover, William J. (ATF); Weinstein, Jason (CRM); 
Colborn, Paul P (SMO) 
Cc: Gaston, Molly (SMO); Gonzales, Mary (OLA); Monaco, Lisa (ODAG); Goldberg, Stuart (ODAG) 
Subject: RE: Revised draft letter to Grassley per input received from all - hope this is ready. Thanks. FB 

Please find attached a rA\I'ic:I='n U[)AC';-cllealred draft that addresses that the issues we discussed last ""\"~nirln and this 
VOJI'''''-'', I believe OlA will the document in final format for Ron's c,nln-:.t, 

Thanks for ""\le;'r\lr,n",,' 

Brad 

From: Monaco, Lisa (ODAG) 
Sent: Thursday, February 03,2011 7:17 PM 
To: Burke, Dennis (USAAZ); Burton, Faith (SMO); Weich, Ron (SMO); Smith, Brad (ODAG); Hoover, William J. (ATF); 
Weinstein, Jason (CRM); Colborn, Paul P (SMO); Goldberg, Stuart (ODAG) 
Cc: Gaston, Molly (SMO); Gonzales, Mary (OLA) 
Subject: Re: Revised draft letter to Grassley per input received from all - hope this is ready. Thanks. FB 

back with 
Thanks 
Lisa 

we need to have a and accurate r""c:nf"'ll'1C:"" Toward that we've 
asked Brad to run down with and this out tomorrow. 

some additional 
he will be rirrlinn 

HOGR DOJ 004962 
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From: 
To: 
Sent: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

From: Weinstein, Jason 

._B.ce.!JercLaooy_A ________________________ . 
l_~ Breuer personal email address redacted 

2/5/2011 2:20:54 PM 
Fw: PDF of Outgoing 2/3/11 Letter to Senator Grassley 
2 3 11 Letter to Senator Grassley.pdf 

To: Breuer, Lanny A.; Raman, Mythili 
Sent: Fri Feb 04 13:27:40 2011 
Subject: FW: PDF of Outgoing 2/3/11 Letter to Senator Grassley 

From: Kralovec, Jamie (JMD) [mailtoC~~~~~~~~~~~J~:~~r~~~~~=~~~~~· 
Sent: Thursday, February 03, 2011 6:47 PM 
To: Hoover, William J. (ATF); Burton, Faith (SMa); Weinstein, Jason; Burke, Dennis (USAAZ); Gaston, Molly (SMa); Gonzales, 
Mary (aLA); Rasnake, Gregory R. (ATF) 
Subject: PDF of Outgoing 2/3/11 Letter to Senator Grassley 

All: The PDF is attached. 

Jamie Kralovec 
Legis/ative Assistant 

~:-Ei.-Q?P-'::IJ![r]?[lLQU--':F~ti9-~------------------. 
; 

I RC-1 
; 
; 
; 
L ___ _ 
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Office of Ihe A",-,Ianl Allomc), Gcnl"ml 

The Honorable Charles E. Grassley 
Ranking Mi nority Member 
Committee 0 11 the Judiciary 
United States Senate 
Washington, DC 205 10 

Dear Senator Grassley: 

U.S. Department of Justice 
Office of Legi!>l;l ti vc Afbil'l-

February 4, 2011 

Thi s responds to yo ur letters. dated January 27, 20 II and January 3 1.2011 , to Acting 
Director Kenncth Melson of the Department's Bureau of Aleohol. Tobacco, Firearms. and 
Explos ives (ATF). regard ing Project Gunrunner. We apprec iate your strong support for the 
Department 's law enforcement mission. 

At the ouLset. the allegat ion desc ri bed in your January 27 letter- that ATF "sanctioned" 
or otherwise knowingly allowed the sale of assault weapons to a straw purchaser who then 
transported them into Mexico-is false. ATF makes every effon to imerdict weapons that have 
been purchased illegall y and prevent their transportation to Mex ico. Indeed. an important goa l of 
Project Gunrunner is to stop the now of weapons from the United States to drug cartel s in 
Mexico. Si nce its inception in 2006. Project Gunrunner investigations have se ized in excess of 
10.000 firearms and 1.1 million ro unds ofam11lunition destined for Mexico. Hundreds of 
indiv iduals have been convicted of criminal otTenses arising from these investigations and many 
others are on-going. ATF remains committed to investigat ing and di smantling firearms 
traffi cking organizations, and will continue to pursue those cases vigo rously with all avai lable 
investigat ive resources. 

In thi s vein, the suggestion that Project Gunrunner focuses simply on straw purchasers is 
incorrect. The defendants named in the indictments referenced in your January 27 leiter include 
leaders of a sophist icated gun trafficking organization. One of the goa ls of the investigati on that 
led to those indictments is to di smantle the entire trafficking organization , not merely to arrest 
straw purchasers. 

I also want to assure you that ATF has made no attempt to reta li ate against any of it s 
agents regarding this matter. We recogni ze the importance of protecting employees from 
retaliation relating 10 their di sclosures of waste, fraud, and abuse. A TF employees receive 
annua l training on their rights under the Whistleblower Protection Act. and those wi th 
knowledge of waste, fraud. or abuse are encouraged to communicate directly with the 
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Department's Office of Inspector General. These protections do not negate the Department's 
legitima'te interest in protecting confidential information about pending criminal investigations. 

We also want to protec t investigations and the law enfo rcement personnel who direc tl y 
conduct them frol11 inappropriate political influence. For this reason, we respectfull y request that 
Committee slaff not contact law enforcement personnel seeking information about pending 
criminal invest igations. including the investigation into the death of Customs and Border Patrol 
Agent Brian Terry. Like you. we are deeply concerned by his murder, and we are act ively 
investigating the malter. Please direct any inquiry into hi s killing to this o ffice. 

The Department would be pleased to provide a briefing to Committee staff about Project 
Gunrunner and ATF's efforts to work with its law enforcement partners to build cases that wi ll 
di srupt and dismantle criminal organizations. That briefing wou ld not address the on-going 
crim inal investigation referenced in your letter. As you know, the Department has a long­
standing policy against the disclosure of non-pUblic information about pending criminal 
investigations, which protects the independence and effectiveness of our law enforcement efforts 
as well as the privacy and due process interests of individuals who mayor may not ever be 
charged with criminal offenses. 

We hope that thi s infomlation is helpful and look forward to briefing Committee stafT 
about Project Gunrunner. Please do not hesi tate to contact thi s office if we may provide 
additional assistance about thi s or any other matter. 

cc: The Honorablc Patrick J. Leahy 
Chairman 

Sincerely. 

Ronald Weich 
Ass istant Attorney Gcneral 
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Dear Senator Grass lcy: 
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May 2, 2011 

This responds to you r letter of April 13.2011. referencing the allegations you have ra ised 
about the Bureau of AlcohoL Tobacco, Firearms. and Explos ives' (ATF's) Project Gunrunner 
and Operation Fast and Furious, and requesting that the Senate Judiciary Committee receive 
access to the ATF documents rev iewed by the House Committee on Oversight and Government 
Reform. 

You have asked whether it remains our view that "ATF did not sanction or otherwise 
knowi ngly allow the sa le of assault weapons to straw purchasers." In fact , my letter. dated 
February 4. 2011 said: "At the outset , the allegation described in your January 27 letter - that 
A TF 'sanctioned ' or otherwise knowingly allowed the sale of assault weapons to a straw 
purchaser who then transported them into Mexico - is false." It remains our understanding that 
ATF's Operation Fast and Furious did not knowingly pemlit straw buyers to take guns into 
Mexico. You have provided to us documents, including internal ATF emai ls. which you believe 
support your all egation. As YOll know, we have referred these documents and all correspondence 
and materials received frolll you related to Operation Fast and Furious to the Acting Inspector 
General. so that she may conduct a thorough review and resolve your allegat ions. While we 
await her findings. the Attorney General has made clear to prosecutors and agents working along 
the Southwest Border that the Department should never knowingly permit fireamls to cross the 
border. 

Your letter al so asks whether the Department will provide the Senate Judiciary 
Committee with access to the documents made avai lable to the House Comm ittee on Oversight 
and Government Reform . While we appreciate your interest in this matter, the Executive Branch 
over many Admin istrations has taken the position that only a chairman can speak for a 
committee in conducting oversight and we work to accommodate legitimate oversight needs of 
congressional committees as articulated in letter requests from chairmen. The Department's 
responses to such requests are sen t to both the chairman and the ranking minority member. and 
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documents made available in response to a chainnan's request may be reviewed by all members 
and stafT on that committee. As we explained in our April IS, 2011 letter to Chairnlan Leahy. a 
copy o f which was provided to you, there are ongoing criminal investigations in Arizona, as well 
as an indicted criminal case set for trial in June in which 20 people have been charged with gun 
traffick ing, drug trafficking and money laundering crimes. We recognize the importance of 
congressional oversight and have continued to be as responsive as possible to Chainnan Issa 
without jeopardizing important law enforcement efforts that are directed at stemming the 
violence in the United States and Mexico emanating frol11 the drug cartels in Mexico. We are 
confident you understand the critical need of the Department to protect the pending criminal trial 
and ongoing investigation of alleged gun traffickers, drug traffickers, and money launderers 
along the Southwest Border. 

We hope that this infonllation is helpful. Please do not hesi tate to contact this office if 
we can provide additional assistance regarding this or any other matter. 

cc: The Honorab le Patrick J. Leahy 
Chai rman 

Sincerely, 

Ronald Weich 
Assistan t Attorney General 



Statement of Assistant Attorney General Lanny A. Breuer 

Criminal Division, Department of Justice 

October 31, 2011 

 

“Throughout my tenure as Assistant Attorney General, one of my highest priorities, and one of 

the central missions that I have set for the Criminal Division, has been to work with our Mexican 

counterparts to fight the scourge of drug trafficking and violence in Mexico, and to address the 

public safety crisis along the Southwest Border of the United States. That is why, among many 

other steps, in 2009, I offered Southwest Border U.S. Attorneys’ Offices assistance from one of 

the Criminal Division’s experienced prosecutors to assist in gun trafficking prosecutions.  

 

“In response to that offer, the Arizona U.S. Attorney’s Office asked the Criminal Division 

prosecutor to assume responsibility for Operation Wide Receiver, and the Criminal Division’s 

Gang Unit agreed to do so, despite not having been involved in the underlying flawed 

investigation of the matter by the Tucson Field Office of the ATF’s Phoenix Field Division in 

2006 and 2007.  

 

“As that prosecutor evaluated the case in the fall of 2009, she realized that ATF’s investigation - 

which had concluded two years earlier - had included the use of misguided tactics that had 

resulted in ATF losing control of numerous guns that then crossed the border into Mexico. This 

information was brought to my attention in April 2010.  

 

“When I learned of the unacceptable tactics used in Operation Wide Receiver, I instructed one of 

my Deputy Assistant Attorneys General to schedule a meeting with ATF’s Acting Director and 

Deputy Director to bring these issues to their attention. The next day, my Deputy contacted ATF 

leadership to arrange a meeting, and approximately one week later, my Deputy met with the ATF 

Deputy Director and others to discuss this matter. 

 

“In prosecuting the defendants in Operation Wide Receiver, the Criminal Division focused on 

how to ensure that those responsible for illegal firearms trafficking were brought to justice, 

despite the flaws in the investigation.  

 

“Knowing what I now know was a pattern of unacceptable and misguided tactics used by the 

ATF, I regret that I did not alert others within the leadership of the Department of Justice to the 

tactics used in Operation Wide Receiver when they first came to my attention. 

 

“When the allegations related to Operation Fast and Furious became public earlier this year, the 

leadership of ATF and the U.S. Attorney’s Office in Arizona repeatedly assured individuals in 

the Criminal Division and the leadership of the Department of Justice that those allegations were 

not true. As a result, I did not draw a connection between the unacceptable tactics used by the 

ATF years earlier in Operation Wide Receiver and the allegations made about Operation Fast 

and Furious, and therefore did not, at that time, alert others within Department leadership of any 

similarities between the two. That was a mistake, and I regret not having done so. 

 

“I remain more committed than ever to the Criminal Division’s mission to fight violence in the 

United States and Mexico.” 
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WHITEHOUSE:
Good morning. The hearing will come to order. I appreciate the witnesses having taken the time
to join us.

I'm not sure if any of our Republican members will be joining us, but I've been given the nod by
the minority staff to go ahead and proceed. So I'll begin with my opening statement. If anybody
else does arrive we can proceed to their opening statements if they care to make one.

Every day, as we know, overseas criminal networks target Americans, weakening our economic
prosperity and compromising our safety. Today's hearing provides us an opportunity to evaluate
our current statutory authorities, law enforcement tools and resources for protecting the
American people from the serious and ever-growing threat of international organized crime.

The international organized crime networks we confront today are significantly different from La
Cosa Nostra and other criminal networks we confronted in the past. Criminal groups increasingly
operate internally, taking advantage of globalization, of the Internet, and of new technologies to
engage in sophisticated and expansive crimes targeted at victims an ocean away.

Overseas networks of cyber criminals have hacked into the computer networks of innovative
American businesses, stealing their valuable intellectual property in order to produce cheap
competitors or counterfeits.

Large-scale criminal enterprises are openly engaged in the online sale of massive amounts of
stolen American movies, music and software.

And an entire criminal industry has grown up around stealing and selling credit card numbers,
bank account passwords and personal identification information of American consumers.

Criminal groups involved in human trafficking, or smuggling narcotics and weapons, are dangers
to our communities, often engaged in kidnapping, extortion and related acts of violence along the
way.

Some overseas crime networks are linked to terrorist organizations. These foreign criminals'
overseas base of operations, flexible network structures and use of the Internet and other
modern tools create significant challenges for U.S. law enforcement. Investigators tracking an
international crime group must regularly work in and with several different countries to build a
single case. The laws and practical circumstances in each country pose obstacles to uncovering
evidence, to interviewing witnesses, to locating criminal suspects.

And the high-tech tools used by foreign criminals require our law enforcement experts to use
complex and often costly forensics to identify those responsible for a crime.

Even once investigators have pieced together a case against a dangerous group and found their
suspects, additional hurdles may stand in the way of bringing foreign criminals to justice. Criminal
statutes, for example, may not apply to criminal groups based overseas, and some of our most
powerful criminal laws for prosecuting organized crime may not capture the types of fraud and
theft that international criminals engage in today. Our RICO statute, for instance, does not apply
to computer crimes, and thus does not help combat overseas hacking rings.

Overseas criminal groups demand heightened attention and resources from many elements of
our government. Investigative and law enforcement agencies must work together to detect and
disrupt overseas criminal plots. They must also collaborate with our economic, diplomatic and
intelligence communities to share threat information, cut off criminal networks' access to funds,
and supplement criminal prosecutions with other approaches to keeping the American people
safe.
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GRASSLEY:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Breuer, yesterday, you made a public statement saying that ATF and the U.S. Attorney's
Office officials, quote, unquote, repeatedly assured officials in the criminal division and the
leadership of the Department of Justice the allegations about walking guns in Fast and Furious
were not true.

Please be more specific. Who exactly at ATF said that the gun walking allegations were untrue?
And who exactly at the U.S. Attorney's Office said the allegations were untrue?

BREUER:
Senator Grassley, as I said yesterday, of course, it was my office that ultimately prosecuted the
Wide Receiver case. And I want to be very clear to you, senator, that when I learned of this in
April of 2010, and -- I learned about it and we decided to prosecute this case from 2006 and
2007. I regret that, at that point, that I -- knowing then -- knowing now what -- knowing now -- I
wish that at that time that I had said clearly to the deputy attorney general and the attorney
general that in this case Wide Receiver, we had determined that in 2006 and 2007, guns had
walked.

I did not do that. And I regret not doing that.

GRASSLEY:
Thank you for that statement. Not who told you at ATF and the Attorney General's Office that
these allegations were untrue?

BREUER:
Well, Mr. Senator, at the time, as I recall, my -- we first spoke to the -- to the ATF back in April of
2010. My front office did. And based on what I understood, we had an understanding from the
ATF that this practice of 2006 and 2007, that the ATF understood the seriousness of that.

GRASSLEY:
What is that individual's name?

BREUER:
Well, there's clearly, as far as I know, Senator Grassley, at the time, Mr. Hoover, who was the
deputy, was one of the people who would have been involved in that discussion.

Of course, I wasn't there for it. So I can only tell you my understanding.

GRASSLEY:
That's all I want, is your understanding of it.

BREUER:
That's my understanding, senator. Then, of course, senator, in early this year, when this matter
came to life and the ATF agents made the claims that they did, I recall that both the leadership
of ATF and the leadership of the United States Attorney's Offices in Arizona, those, of course,
who were closest and were handling the matter, were adamant about the fact that this was not,
in fact, a condoned practice.

I'm sure you recall that as well.

GRASSLEY:
The word leadership applies then to the people that were head of the U.S. Attorney's Office and
the head of ATF? Even though you didn't give me their names, that's who you're talking about,
right?

BREUER:
That's exactly right, as I recall.

GRASSLEY:
Let me go on then.

BREUER:
Yes, senator.



http://www.cq.com/doc/congressionaltranscripts-3972816?print=true[11/14/2011 1:14:27 PM]

GRASSLEY:
On February 4th, 2011, the department sent me a letter also assuring me that allegations of gun
walking were untrue. It reads, quote, "ATF makes every effort to interdict weapons that have
been purchased illegally, and prevent their transportation to Mexico," end of quote.

That statement is absolutely false. And you admitted as much last night, that you knew by April,
2010, that ATF walked guns in Operation Wide Receiver. That is that correct, yes?

BREUER:
Yes, senator. What I...

GRASSLEY:
That's all I need to know, if that's correct. Did you review that letter before it was sent to me?

BREUER:
Senator, again, I just want to be clear that, as I told you a moment ago, I regret that in April of
2010 that I did not draw the connection between Wide Receiver and Fast and Furious.
Moreover, I regret that -- that even in earlier this year that I didn't draw that connection.

In direct answer to your question, senator, I can say -- I cannot say for sure whether I saw a
draft of the letter that was sent to you. What I can tell you, senator, is at that time, I was in
Mexico dealing with a very real issues that we are all so committed to.

But I also regret, as I've said, that I didn't draw that connection earlier.

GRASSLEY:
After learning of gun walking in Wide Receiver, did you ever inform the Attorney General Holder
or deputy attorney general about it? And if so, when? And if not, why not?

BREUER:
Senator, I can't be more clear. I've said to you, and I will continue to, I regret the fact that in April
of 2010, I did not. At the time, I thought that we -- dealing with the leadership of ATF was
sufficient and reasonable.

And frankly, given the amount of work I do, at the time, I thought that that was the appropriate
way of dealing with it. But I cannot be more clear that knowing now -- if I had known then what I
know now, I, of course, would have told the deputy and the attorney general.

GRASSLEY:
Did you ever tell anybody else in the Justice Department leadership the same thing? And if so,
who and when?

BREUER:
Senator, I thought we had dealt with it by talking to the ATF leadership.

GRASSLEY:
OK. How many guns were walked in Wide Receiver?

BREUER:
Senator, I can probably try to look at that. Of course, that was in 2006 and 2007. Just to be
clear, if I may, senator, that was a case that had been abandoned and languished. It was my
division that decided to take a case where guns had been permitted to go to Mexico years
earlier, and at least make sure that the criminals who were responsible for purchasing those
guns were held to account.

As a result of that, senator, we prosecuted 11 different people. I think to answer your question, in
total, probably about -- if my math is good, probably about 350 or so. But, senator, I will have to
double check that number.

GRASSLEY:
I think you are very close. So you don't have to check that number. According to my information,
just five straw buyers -- I will refer to the chart here and then I'll quit and let you go on to another
member. And I'll do some more on a second round.

According to my information, just five of the straw buyers in Fast and Furious were allowed to
buy nearly 1,000 weapons. When did you first know that guns were walked in Fast and Furious?
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BREUER:
Senator, I found out first when the public disclosure was made by the ATF agents early this
year. When they started making those public statements, of course, at that point, as you know,
both the leadership of ATF and the leadership of the U.S. Attorney's Offices adamantly said that
those allegations were wrong.

But as those allegations became clear, that is when I first learned that guns that could -- that
ATF had both the ability to interdict and the legal authority to interdict, that they failed to do so.
That is when I first learned that, senator.

GRASSLEY:
Thank you, Mr. Breuer.

BREUER:
Thank you, sir.

GRASSLEY:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

WHITEHOUSE:
I will next call on Senator Feinstein, who not only brings to this concern her distinguished service
on this committee, but her service as chair of the Senate Intelligence Committee.

Senator Feinstein?

FEINSTEIN:
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate that.

Mr. Breuer, in June of this year, I received a letter from the ATF. This was in response to a letter
I had asked them from Acting Director Melson, stating that 29,284 firearms recovered in Mexico
in '09 and 2010, and submitted to the ATF tracing center.

With those weapons, 20,504, or 70 percent, were United States sourced. A country of origin for
the remaining firearms apparently could not be determined by ATF, meaning that the number
could be much higher.

What info -- what actually is the number? Now this was back in June. Is that the most current
number? Is it fair to some that 70 percent of the firearms showing up in Mexico are from the
United States?

BREUER:
Thank you, Senator, for the question, and for your leadership on this issue.

You have, of course, identified the paramount issue that we have to face as we deal with
transnational organized crime from the Mexican cartels.

From my understanding, 94,000 weapons have been recovered in the last five years in Mexico.
Those are just the ones recovered, not the ones that are in Mexico. Of the 94,000 weapons that
have been recovered in Mexico, 64,000 of those are traced to the United States.

We have to do something to prevent criminals from getting those guns, Senator.

That is my understanding of the most accurate numbers.

FEINSTEIN:
Well, you see, this is a deep concern for me. And I know others disagree, but we have very lax
laws when it comes to guns. I think this, to some extent, influences the ATF in how they
approach the problem, as to whether they have political support or not.

But I think these numbers are shocking. And I think when you know the number of deaths these
guns have caused, used by cartels against victims, it's in -- literally up in the tens of thousands.

So the question comes, what can we do? And I'd really rather concentrate on the constructive
rather than other things. And so the question comes, do you believe that if there were some form
of registration when you purchase these firearms that that would make a difference?
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Questions for the Records for 
Lanny A. Breuer 

Assistant Attorney General 
Criminal Division 

U.S. Department of Justice 
 

Subcommittee on Crime and Terrorism 
Committee on the Judiciary 

United States Senate 
 

 “Combating International Organized Crime: Evaluating Current Authorities, Tools and 
Resources”   

November 1, 2011 
 
 

Questions from Senator Patrick Leahy 
 
Question 1: 
 
During the hearing, you were interrupted as you attempted to answer a question 
from Senator Grassley.  Would you like to complete your answer?  The question is 
below:   
 

Senator Grassley. On February 4, 2011, the Department sent me a letter also 
assuring me that allegations of gun walking were untrue.  It reads, “ATF 
makes every effort to interdict weapons that have been purchased illegally 
and prevent their transportation to Mexico.”  That statement is absolutely 
false, and you admitted as much last night, that you knew by April 2010 that 
ATF walked guns in Operation Wide Receiver.  That is correct, yes? 
 
Mr. Breuer. Yes, Senator. What I— 
 
Senator Grassley. That is all I need to know, if that is correct. 

 
Response: 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to complete my response.   

 
In April 2010, one of my Deputy Assistant Attorneys General (DAAG), Jason Weinstein, 
informed me about certain misguided tactics that had been used in Operation Wide 
Receiver in 2006 and 2007, which had resulted in the ATF losing control of guns that 
then crossed the border into Mexico.  DAAG Weinstein became aware of these 
misguided tactics in the course of his supervision of the Criminal Division’s Gang Unit, 
which had agreed, in September 2009, to assume responsibility from the United States 
Attorney’s Office in Arizona for prosecuting Operation Wide Receiver.    
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When I learned of these misguided tactics in April 2010, the operative phase of the Wide 
Receiver investigation was approximately four years old and had been complete for well 
over two years; the Acting Directors of the ATF in 2006 and 2007 – when Operation 
Wide Receiver was investigated – were no longer leading the ATF; and the U.S. 
Attorneys in Arizona in 2006 and 2007 – whose Office handled Operation Wide Receiver 
until the Gang Unit became involved in 2009 – were no longer leading the U.S. 
Attorney’s Office.  Once I became aware of the inappropriate tactics that had resulted in 
the ATF losing control of guns that then crossed the border into Mexico, I directed 
DAAG Weinstein to meet with the leadership of the ATF to convey my concerns about 
the investigation.  Based on the meeting DAAG Weinstein subsequently had with the 
ATF’s Deputy Director, I had no reason to believe that the new leadership of the ATF 
approved of, or that it would ever continue to endorse, the tactics that had been used 
years earlier in Operation Wide Receiver.  In addition, after the allegations regarding 
Operation Fast and Furious became public, the leadership of both the ATF and the U.S. 
Attorney’s Office in Arizona – who held supervisory responsibility for the investigation – 
repeatedly and vigorously assured individuals throughout the Justice Department that 
those allegations were false.  

 
Based on the information I had at the time the Department sent its February 4, 2011 
letter, I had no reason to believe that the leadership of the ATF approved of, or that it 
would ever continue to endorse, the misguided tactics that had been used years earlier in 
Operation Wide Receiver, which had resulted in the ATF losing control of guns that then 
crossed the border into Mexico.  In recent weeks, I have seen reports suggesting that, 
during my November 1, 2011 testimony, I acknowledged knowing that the February 4 
letter was inaccurate at the time it was submitted.  I want to make clear that such an 
interpretation of my testimony is absolutely incorrect.  I testified that, at the time the 
Department sent its February 4 letter, I did not make a connection between Operation 
Wide Receiver and the allegations being made about Operation Fast and Furious.  But, as 
I have stated, knowing what I now know was a pattern of unacceptable and misguided 
tactics used by the ATF, I regret not having drawn a connection between the allegations 
relating to Operation Fast and Furious and the inappropriate tactics used years earlier in 
Operation Wide Receiver.  

 
 
Question 2: 
 
You testified that you regretted not alerting others in the Justice Department after 
you became aware, in April of 2010, of investigative tactics that were used in a 
previous ATF investigation entitled Operation Wide Receiver, which occurred in 
2006 and 2007.  That testimony has been misconstrued by some as if about 
Operation Fast and Furious.  When did you become aware of the unacceptable 
tactics being used in Operation Fast and Furious? 
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Response: 
 
I first became aware of allegations regarding the use of unacceptable tactics in Operation 
Fast and Furious when those allegations became public earlier this year.  Before that 
time, I was unaware of any such tactics in connection with Operation Fast and Furious. 
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Questions from Senator Charles Grassley 
 
 
Department Letter of February 4, 201[1]  

 
Last week when asked whether you saw a draft of the February 4 letter sent to me 
that contained the false statement, “ATF makes every effort to interdict weapons 
that have been purchased illegally, and prevent their transportation to Mexico,” you 
responded: “I cannot say for sure whether I saw a draft of the letter that was sent to 
you. What I can tell you, senator, is at that time, I was in Mexico dealing with the 
very real issues that we are all so committed to.”  
 
Question 3(a):  

 
Did your Deputy Assistant Attorney General (DAAG) Jason Weinstein review the 
Department’s February 4, 201[1] letter to me?  
  
Response: 
 
Yes, DAAG Weinstein reviewed the letter; he also participated in its drafting.   

 
I understand from documents being produced by the Justice Department, and from 
conversations I have had with DAAG Weinstein, that he offered to assist in drafting the 
February 4 letter because, having been unable to go on his planned trip to Mexico with 
me and other Department officials, he had the time to do so.  I further understand that 
during the drafting process, he relied on the unequivocal assertions of the leadership of 
the ATF and the Arizona U.S. Attorney’s Office – officials who held supervisory 
responsibility for Operation Fast and Furious and who were therefore in the best position 
to know the actual facts concerning the operation.   
 
DAAG Weinstein has expressed to me that, in hindsight, he wishes he had not relied on 
those assertions and that, because he did rely so heavily on them, he viewed, incorrectly, 
the misguided tactics used in Operation Wide Receiver – which resulted in the ATF 
losing control of guns that then crossed the border into Mexico – as having no relation to 
the allegations that were being made about Operation Fast and Furious.   

 
Before joining the Criminal Division in 2009, DAAG Weinstein had been an Assistant 
United States Attorney (AUSA) for ten years, prosecuting violent and other criminals in 
Manhattan and Baltimore.  He rose to become Assistant Criminal Chief and Violent 
Crime Chief in the Baltimore U.S. Attorney’s Office, where he prosecuted some of 
Baltimore’s most violent offenders and created the Maryland Exile program, which 
contributed to a significant reduction in murders and shootings in the Baltimore area.  In 
2007, he and others received an award from the Justice Department for having built the 
nation’s best violent crime task force.  In 2009, I selected Mr. Weinstein for his position 
as Deputy Assistant Attorney General overseeing the Gang Unit and other Criminal 
Division sections because of his years of experience in fighting violent crime and because 
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of his stellar reputation in the law enforcement community.  He has made enormous 
contributions to the Division and to the Department over the past two-and-a-half years 
and during his long career with the Department.  I consider him to be an extremely 
talented, ethical, and devoted prosecutor. 
 
Question 3(b): 
 
Who else in the Criminal Division reviewed the letter?  
 
Response: 
 
Based on the documents being produced by the Justice Department, it is my 
understanding that several individuals within the Criminal Division received drafts of the 
February 4 letter.  However, I am not aware of anyone in the Division apart from DAAG 
Weinstein who participated in any meaningful way in drafting or reviewing it.    

 
Question 3(c): 
 
What were the dates you were in Mexico in late January and early February 20[1]?   
 
Response: 
 
I was in Mexico on an official visit from February 1-3, 2011.   
  
Question 3(d): 
 
When did you first become aware that the Department denied in its February 4 
letter allegations that guns had been walked?  
 
Response: 

 
Like many others in the Department, I was aware, at the time, that the Department was 
drafting a response to your January 2011 letters and that officials at the ATF and the U.S. 
Attorney’s Office in Arizona felt strongly that the allegations being made were untrue.  I 
was also aware, like many others in the Department, that based on the unequivocal 
statements of the ATF and the Arizona U.S. Attorney’s Office, the Department intended 
to deny the allegations.  I did not, however, participate in drafting or editing the 
Department’s February 4, 2011 letter.   

 
Based on the documents being produced by the Justice Department, I understand that two 
emails attaching drafts of the letter were sent to me by DAAG Weinstein on February 2, 
while I was in Mexico, and that I forwarded one of those emails to my personal email 
account on that day; I also understand that on February 4, after I had returned from 
Mexico, I received two emails attaching signed versions of the letter, including the final 
version, and that on February 5, I forwarded both emails to my personal email account.  
However, as I testified, I cannot say for sure whether I saw a draft of the letter before it 
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was sent to you.  I have no recollection of having done so and, given that I was on official 
travel that week and given the scope of my duties as Assistant Attorney General, I think it 
is exceedingly unlikely that I did so.  
 
In recent weeks, I have seen erroneous reports suggesting that, during my November 1, 
2011 testimony, I acknowledged knowing that the February 4 letter was inaccurate at the 
time it was submitted.  I want to make clear that such an interpretation of my testimony is 
absolutely incorrect.  I testified that, at the time the Department sent its February 4 letter, 
I did not make a connection between Operation Wide Receiver and the allegations being 
made about Operation Fast and Furious.  As I explain more fully in response to Senator 
Leahy’s Questions for the Record, based on the information I had at the time the 
Department sent its February 4, 2011 letter, I had no reason to believe that the leadership 
of the ATF approved of, or that it would ever continue to endorse, the misguided tactics 
that had been used years earlier in Operation Wide Receiver, which resulted in the ATF 
losing control of guns that then crossed the border into Mexico.  But, as I have also 
stated, knowing what I now know was a pattern of unacceptable and misguided tactics 
used by the ATF, I regret not having drawn a connection between the allegations relating 
to Operation Fast and Furious and the inappropriate tactics used years earlier in 
Operation Wide Receiver.   
 
 
Connection Between Operation Wide Receiver and Operation Fast and Furious  

  
In your testimony of November 1, you stated: “I regret that in April of 2010 that I 
did not draw the connection between Wide Receiver and Fast and Furious.”  
However, it is clear that at that time, your own staff considered them related 
components of the same case.  

  
On February 22, 2010, Gang Unit prosecutors Laura Gwinn and Joe Cooley, 
assigned respectively to Wide Receiver and Fast and Furious, emailed back and 
forth with each other about the connection between the two cases when some of the 
guns being trafficked in Fast and Furious were tracked to a stash house of one of the 
targets in Wide Receiver.  HOGR WR 003422.  

  
Because of those overlapping targets, Wide Receiver and Fast and Furious were 
considered associated cases.  When the ATF Phoenix Field Division assembled a 
PowerPoint presentation on Fast and Furious in March 2010, one of the slides 
listing “Associated Cases” with Fast and Furious listed Operation Wide Receiver.  
This same PowerPoint was presented at ATF headquarters on March 5, 2010.  
HOGR ATF 002091.  According to a March 11, 2010, memo from Gang Unit Chief 
Kevin Carwile, Gang Unit member Joe Cooley attended that briefing.  HOGR DOJ 
003311.  

  
Concerns about those overlapping targets also led to delay in unsealing the 
ndictments in Wide Receiver, as the U.S. Attorney’s Office in Arizona had concerns 
that when the Wide Receiver indictments were unsealed it would tip off targets in 
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Fast and Furious.  As the Department wrote in its October 31, 2011, letter to 
Senator Leahy: “The documents produced today reflect that the Gang Unit 
prosecutor was ready to indict the Wide Receiver cases and unseal them beginning 
in the spring of 2010, but that the Assistant U.S. Attorney in the U.S. Attorney’s 
Office in Arizona handling Fast and Furious believed that if the Wide Receiver 
indictments became public at that time they would negatively impact his case.  The 
Assistant U.S. Attorney therefore requested that the indictments and/or the 
unsealing of the indictments in Wide Receiver be delayed.  HOGR WR 003480, 
003489.  As a result of that request, Wide Receiver 1 was indicted under seal in May 
2010, Wide Receiver 2 was indicted under seal in October 2010, and both cases were 
unsealed in November 2010. HOGR DOJ 003260, 63.”    

  
In a July 1, 2010, memo to DAAG Weinstein, Principal DAAG and Criminal 
Division Chief of Staff Mythili Raman, and Criminal Division Deputy Chief of Staff 
Steven Fagell, the connection between Fast and Furious and Wide Receiver was 
referenced when Gang Unit Chief Kevin Carwile described “a gun trafficking case 
with apparent ties to the Tucson case already indicted by [the Gang Unit].”  HOGR 
DOJ 003327.  

  
Finally, an October 18, 2010, memo under your name that is addressed to the 
Attorney General and Acting Deputy Attorney General reads: “On October 27, the 
Organized Crime and Gang Section (OCGS) plans to indict eight individuals under 
seal relating to the trafficking of hundreds of firearms into Mexico.  The sealing will 
likely last until another investigation, Phoenix-based Operation Fast and Furious, 
“is ready for takedown.”  HOGR DOJ 003263.  

  
Question 4(a):  

 
In light of all of these connections, how is it credible for you to claim that you “did 
not draw the connection between Wide Receiver and Fast and Furious”?  
 
Response: 

 
None of the documents cited in your question indicates a connection between the 
misguided tactics used by the ATF in 2006 and 2007 in Operation Wide Receiver – 
which resulted in the ATF losing control of guns that then crossed the border into Mexico 
– and any inappropriate investigative tactics being used in Operation Fast and Furious, 
and I was not aware of any such connection. 

 
Indeed, the fact that I did not connect what I knew about Operation Wide Receiver with 
the allegations relating to Operation Fast and Furious is perhaps best reflected in the 
reaction I had when I learned, in April 2010, of the unacceptable tactics used years earlier 
in Operation Wide Receiver that had resulted in the ATF losing control of guns that then 
crossed the border into Mexico – namely,  to ensure that the leadership of the ATF was 
promptly apprised of the misguided tactics used in the investigation, which had been 
conducted long before I became Assistant Attorney General and long before the Criminal 
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Division assumed responsibility for prosecuting the Wide Receiver defendants.  I am 
confident that had I drawn a connection between what I knew about Operation Wide 
Receiver and the allegations relating to Operation Fast and Furious, I would have taken 
action.  

 
As I testified, knowing what I now know was a pattern of unacceptable and misguided 
tactics used by the ATF, I regret not having drawn a connection between the allegations 
relating to Operation Fast and Furious and the inappropriate tactics used years earlier in 
Operation Wide Receiver.  

 
Additionally, as I have explained more fully in response to Senator Leahy’s Questions for 
the Record, based on the information I had at the time the Department sent its February 4, 
2011 letter – including the information that senior officials at the ATF and the U.S. 
Attorney’s Office in Arizona, who held supervisory responsibility for Operation Fast and 
Furious, provided to the Department at the time – I had no reason to believe that the 
leadership of the ATF approved of, or that it would ever continue to endorse, the 
misguided tactics that had been used years earlier in Operation Wide Receiver, which had 
resulted in the ATF losing control of guns that then crossed the border into Mexico.   

 
Question 4(b): 
 
Since the Criminal Division believed in the spring of 2010 that both Wide Receiver 
and Fast and Furious involved overlapping targets, when you learned in April 2010 
that guns were walked in Wide Receiver, did you ask whether they were also walked 
in Fast and Furious?  If not, why not?  
 
Response: 

 
Please see response to Question 4(a) above. 
 

 
  



Office of the Assistant Attorney General 

The Honorable Darrell E. lssa 
Chainnan 
Committee on Oversight and 

Govenunent Refonn 
U.S. House of Representatives 
Washington, DC 20515 

The Honorable Charles E. Grassley 
Ranking Member 
Committee on the Judiciary 
United States Senate 
Washington, DC 20510 

Dear Mr. Chainnan and Senator Grassley: 
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This responds to the requests set forth in your letter dated September I, 20 11 , for 
transcribed interviews of three prosecutors in the United States Attorney's Office for the District 
of Arizona (the "USAO") and the requests communicated to us by Committee staff for 
transcribed interviews of eight additional Department of Justice attorneys concerning ongoing 
fireanns trafficking investigations and related pending prosecutions. Although we are prepared 
to make several attorneys available for interviews, your request for interviews of some line and 
lower level supervisory prosecutors raises grave concerns for the Department. In addition, the 
Committee's need for interviews of several others is unclear because of their limited connection 
with the fireanns trafficking investigations. 

The Committee ' s request for interviews of Department prosecutors is part of a review in 
which the Conunittee has already had extraordinary access to Department personnel and 
documents. As you know, the Department has voluntarily made six ATF employees available 
for transcribed interviews, and the Committee has conducted interviews of additional A TF 
personnel, including then-Acting Director Melson. We likewise have made senior Department 
officials available for public testimony. The Department has cooperated in the scheduling and 
conduct of those interviews notwithstanding the fact that the Committee sought to inquire about 
matters related to open investigations and pending prosecutions. The Department has sought to 
accommodate the Committee ' s interests regarding the strategy adopted in this law enforcement 
effort because it recognizes the legitimate questions about whether illegally purchased fireanns 
were knowingly pennitled to cross the border to Mexico. 
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For these same reasons, the Department has made more than 5,000 pages of documents 
available to the Committee, and it continues to search for and review documents responsive to 
the Committee's requests, including but not limited to its subpoenas. Indeed, as you are well 
aware, the Department has dedicated substantial resources to accommodating the Committee 's 
infonnation requests related to the strategy adopted in connection with Operation Fast and 
Furious. At the same time, however, we have attempted to accommodate the Committee 's 
requests without hanning pending investigations and prosecutions, and without impairing other 
values that are central to the Department's mission. 

As we have advised your staff, we are prepared to make Patrick Cunningham, Chief of 
the Criminal Division in the United States Anomey ' s Office for the District of Arizona, available 
for an interview. However, the Department expects to be present to protect its law enforcement 
interests during the interview. We understand that Mr. Cunningham has retained private counsel 
and we will defer to him wi th regard to scheduling, as long as we can attend. We also will make 
available Gary Grindler, fonnerly the Acting Deputy Attorney General and now Chief of StafT to 
the Attorney General , in accordance with our conversations with Committee staff, on December 
14, 2011. In addition, we are prepared to make available Jason Weinstein, Deputy Assistant 
Attorney General in the Department's Criminal Division, but we need to be present to protect the 
Department's interests, regardless of whether Mr. Weinstein also chooses to be accompanied by 
any private counsel. We understand that you would like to continue the interview of now fanner 
United States Attorney Dennis K. Burke, whom we understand has retained private counsel. The 
Department has no objection to this further interview so long as we are permitted to attend. We 
are currently prcparing to provide documents to Mr. Burke and his attorney to assist his 
preparation for this resumed interview. 

It is particularly important that the Department attend the interviews of these current and 
fonner employees in order to protect its own interests, especially those pertaining to the ongoing 
criminal investigations and prosecutions. It is standard Executive Branch practice for agency 
counselor other agency representatives to attend congressional staff interviews of agency 
personnel, and a witness's personal counsel does not represent the agency. Indeed, we 
understand that the Committee has infonned another agency that both private counsel and 
agency counsel may be present at a Comminee staff interview. We expect that Messrs. 
Cunningham, Burke, Grindler and Weinstein may answer questions at their interviews about 
their knowledge orthe strategy adopted in Operation Fast and Furious. For the reasons discussed 
below, however, and consistent with limitations applicable in prior interviews, they will not 
discuss the detail s of pending investigations or prosecutions, including prosecutorial decisions 
about particular individuals. These limitations are essential to protect the integrity and 
independence of the criminal justice process as well as the public 's confidence that such 
decisions are made without regard to political considerations. It is the responsibility of the 
Department's counsel to identify these limitations as needed and any other Department equities 
that may be implicated during the course of the interviews. 

We expect that Messrs. Burke and Cunningham will be in a position to address the topics 
that Assistant Attorney General Weich identified on page 3 of his prepared statement for the 
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Committee hearing on June 15 as being at the "core of the Committee's oversight interests" and 
which the Department has been and is willing to accommodate: " the decisionmaking and 
responsibility for strategic decisions, if any, regarding the timing of arrests in connection with 
the alleged sale of firearms to individuals suspected of being straw purchasers, the legal basis to 
seize such fireanns, and any efforts to track the firearms to those higher up the chain of 
command in firearms and drug trafficking interests." We are concerned about your request for 
interviews of Kenneth Blanco, also a Deputy Assistant Attorney General in the Criminal 
Division, because his only connection with Operation Fast and Furious arose from his ro le in 
reviewing applicat ions for Title III surveillance, a technique that the Department has 
acknowledged was used in this investigation. That acknowledgement will not, however, relieve 
Mr. Blanco of hi s obligation to protect the confidentiality of information pertaining to particular 
applications. Moreover, to the extent that you are interested in eliciting from Mr. Blanco any 
info rmation about the general process for reviewing Title III applicat ions, Mr. Weinstein could 
provide that infonnation during his interview. Additionally, we have previously agreed to 
provide a briefing on the Title III procedures in response to a request from Committee staff. 
Under these circumstances, we would seek to defer the interview of Mr. Blanco and, following 
Mr. Weinstein ' s interview, proceed with a briefing if you fee l you still need additional 
infonnation about the general procedures for reviewing Title III applications. 

We are al so unclear about the Comminee' s interest in interviewing Bruce Swartz, another 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General in the Criminal Division, whom the Committee has not 
indicated had any connection with Operation Fast and Furious. As noted above, we are in the 
process of searching for documents responsive to the Committee' s subpoena, including 
categories that mention Mr. Swartz. We would like to defer any final decisions about the 
Committee' s request for Mr. Swartz's interview until we have identified any responsive 
documents, some of which may implicate equities of another agency. We will supplement this 
response when that process is completed. 

The remaining employees you have asked to interview are all career employees who are 
ei ther li ne prosecutors or first- or second-level supervisors. James Trusty and Michael Morrissey 
were first-level supervisors during the time period covered by the Fast and Furious investigation, 
and Kevin Carwile was a second-level supervisor. The remaining three employees you have 
asked to interv iew - Emory Hurley, Serra Tsethlikai , and Joseph Cooley - are line prosecutors. 
We are not prepared to make any of these attorneys avai lable for interviews. We believe that, in 
addition to the staff interviews of Department employees that have already occurred and the 
documents we have and wi ll provide, the transcribed interv iews offered above should provide 
sufficient infonnation to satisfy the Committee' s legitimate oversight interests. Committee staff 
questioning of lower level supervisors and line prosecutors poses significant risks, however 
unintended, to the Department ' s discharge of its law enforcement responsibilities and in 
part icular would have a substantial chilling and intimidating effect on Department prosecutors 
across the country, as we discuss more fu lly below. 
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I. Respected Governmental Officials on a Bipartisan Basis Have Opposed SUbjecting 
Line Prosecutors to Congressional Inquiry 

Subjecting line prosecutors to congressional scrutiny concerning decisions they have 
made in particular cases raises very grave concerns for the Department and simi larly has troub led 
an array of respected Congressional leaders and Department officials across the ideological 
spectrum. In the enclosed September 21 , 1993 letter to Attorney General Janel Reno, Senator 
Orrin Hatch wrote: 

I have been troubled to learn recently that consideration is apparentl y 
being given to having career line attorneys of the Department of Justice 
interrogated by, and appear before, Congressional committees lor the 
purpose of defending or otherwise explaining their conduct of particular 
cases. My initia l impression is that this is a very disturbing idea. It 
could chill career Department of Justice lawyers in the exercise of their 
daily dulies . ... 

Beyond practical concerns of case management, consti tutional concerns 
are, of course, also raised by the contemplated plan. 

Similarly, in the enclosed September 7, 1993 letter to Attorney General Reno on the same 
topic, Representative Henry J. Hyde criticized the notion that li ne prosecutors might appear 
before Congress, ca lling the idea «misguided" and urging the Attorney General to " thwart this 
outrageous politicizing of law enforcement" because "[w]e should not open the door to 
congressional micromanagement of prosecutions." Such a result, Representative Hyde wrote, 
"would threaten the integrity of the Justice Department and undermine public respect for our 
entire judicial system." 

The views expressed by Senator Hatch and Representative Hyde were shared by the 
Department during the Administration of George W. Bush. In the enclosed letter dated March 
23, 2005, William E. Moschella, Ass istant Attorney General for Legislative Affa irs, wrote to 
Senator Susan Collins that: 

[t]he Department has a strong institutional interest in ensuring that 
appropriate supervisory personnel , rather than line attorneys and agents, 
answer Congressional inquiries about Department actions. This is based 
in part upon our view that supervisory personnel, not li ne employees, 
make the decisions that are the subjects of Congressional review, and 
therefore they should be the ones to explain their decisions. More 
fundamenta lly, however, the Department needs to ensure that our line 
attorneys and agents can exercise the independent judgment essential to 
the integrity of our law enforcem ent activities and to public confidence 
in those acti vities. 
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Stuart M. Gerson, an Assistant Attorney General during the Administration of George 
H.W. Bush, has observed that congressional efforts to subpoena line prosecutors "pose a long­
tenn constitutional threat by impinging upon the core, judicially-unreviewable, Executive Branch 
function of rendering independent decisions concerning the undertaking or forebearance of 
criminal prosecutions." Stuart Gerson, "The Legislative Politicization of the U.S. Department of 
Justice," Legal Backgrounder fo r the Washington Legal Foundation, at I (Nov. 18, 1994) (copy 
enclosed). 

In the enclosed January 5, 1994 response to the letter from Senator Hatch, Attorney 
General Reno wrote that: 

A prosecutor's discretion to investigate or indict a particular individual is 
an awesome power, with irreparable impact on the life of that individual 
and on the integrity of our system of justice. It must be exerci sed with 
the greatest of care and in a manner guaranteed to ensure that only 
objective, non-political considerations bear on its detennination. 
Permitting Congress ional examination of line prosecutors carries 
substantial danger of chilling the objective exercise of that discretion and 
of generating the appearance of political influence on prosecutorial 
decisions. 

And, for similar reasons, the American Bar Association in 1996 adopted 
recommendations that " [c]ongressional committees should not seek ... compelled testimony of . 
. . line attorneys regarding discretionary decisions being made in pending cases" and that, as a 
general matter, "congressional committees should not seek the compelled testimony of line 
attorneys about adjudicated cases." ABA Resolution 1 04A (AM 96-1 04A) available af 
http://www.americanbar .orglgroups/criminalj ustice/policy/ index _ aba_criminal justice ---'pol icies 
_by _ meeting.html#am96 I 04a. 

II. Requiring These Prosecutors in the Instant Matter to Provide Information to the 
Committee Would Imperil Pending and Future Prosecutions Arising Out of the 
Criminal Investigations Under Review 

We take as a given that the Committee seeks to give no aid to those who either have been 
or wi ll be charged with serious crimes ari sing out of the Fast and Furious matter. However, 
requiring an appearance by these prosecutors about the prosecution of already-charged 
defendants, and the oversight of investigations that may lead to charges against others is certain 
to lead to significant legal attacks in court by counsel for these individuals. Requiring these 
prosecutors to explain why certain facts did or did not give rise to legal rights on behalf of the 
government, or requiring them to explain in exacting detail the government's investigative 
actions, can give rise to motions by counsel for criminal defendants that may, at the least, 
complicate the govenunent's abil ity to bring dangerous individuals to justice. Such results are 
not in the interests of the criminal j ustice system or the public generally . 
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Similarly, requiring these prosecutors to provide information to Congress can trigger 
additional discovery obl igations in favor of criminal defendants that can undermine the 
government's case. We recognize that such outcomes are not intended consequences of the 
Committee's request for information, but they may well be unavoidable consequences. 

We hope this information is helpful and appreciate your consideration of our views in this 
matter. Please do not hesitate to contact this office if we may provide additional assistance. 

Enclosures 

cc: The Honorable Patrick Leahy 
Chainnan 
Committee on the Judiciary 
United States Senate 

The Honorable Elijah E. Cummings 
Rank ing Member 

Sincerely, 

Ronald Weich 
Assistant Attorney General 

Committee on Oversight and Government Refonn 
U.S. House of Representatives 
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